
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2018 at 6pm

COMMITTEE ROOM 2 - CIVIC SUITE, SOLIHULL

CPH LEISURE TOURISM AND 
SPORT DECISION SESSION 

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.

(b) When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it

 Not participate in any discussion or vote

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest Description

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses.

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To: Councillors J Tildesley, C Buxton-Sait 
and L McCarthy

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000 

David Acton
Tel: 0121 704 6156
Email: dacton@solihull.gov.uk

Date 7 November 2018 

CPH LEISURE TOURISM AND SPORT DECISION SESSION 

WEDNESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2018

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
To receive declarations of Members disclosable pecuniary interests and conflicts 
of interest.

3. REQUESTS OF MEMBERS TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

4. SUMMER FEST 2018 (Pages 5 - 50)
To inform the Cabinet Member of the Summer Fest 2018 event.

5. DICKENS HEATH COMMUNITY FACILITY (Pages 51 - 64)
To seek Cabinet Member approval for the Dickens Heath Community Facility 
proposal based on the key future principals as outlined in this report.

6. REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING 2018/19 AS AT 30TH SEPTEMBER 
2018 (Pages 65 - 74)
To inform the Cabinet Member of the Portfolio’s latest forecast financial position 
as at 30th September 2018 against Revenue and Capital budgets, and the 
progress against the latest 3 year savings targets in the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) summarised and detailed in Appendix A.

To inform of the future pressures and mitigations detailed in Appendix B.



This page is intentionally left blank



Meeting date: 14 November 2018

Report to: Cabinet Member for Leisure, Tourism & 
Sport

Subject/report 
title:

Summer Fest 2018

Report from: Paul Langham, Assistant Director – Business Systems

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Deborah Martin-Williams, Head of Communications
Email: dmwilliams@solihull.gov.uk 
Tel: 0121 704 6772

Wards affected: 
☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☒ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To inform the Cabinet Member of the Summer Fest 2018 event. 

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 To note the contents of the report.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 Background

3.1.1 Summer Fest is a three day event held in Tudor Grange Park over the August Bank 
Holiday Weekend.  The event started in support of the charity ‘Help Harry Help 
Others’ cancer support centre in Birmingham and includes live music, dance and 
family entertainment. The festival first started in August 2016. 

3.1.2 The third event took place in 2018.  The organisers have stated that, if successful and 
well received, they would like to make this an annual event. 

3.1.3 The Council has an Events Policy and Guidance for Parks, Open Spaces and Town 
Centres (Shirley and Solihull) (see Appendix A).  This was approved by Cabinet in 
January 2012 and remains in effect.  The purpose of the policy is to manage the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:dmwilliams@solihull.gov.uk


events application, approval and delivery process to ensure that the Council’s terms 
are met and that the events are in the interest of the general public. 

3.1.4 “All events which take place in the borough are expected to comply with the terms of 
this policy.  The Council reserves the right to reject any event which it deems is not in 
the interest of the general public.” (Events Policy and Guidance, pg. 4) 

3.1.5 The policy sets out a robust assessment process and requires the organiser to comply 
with the Council’s terms including – Public Liability Insurance, Risk Assessment, 
Event Manager, Health and Safety Requirements, the sale of goods, food and drink, 
electricity and water supplies, toilets, food hygiene, litter and noise. 

3.1.6 The organisers of Solihull Summer Fest have always complied with the requirements 
to produce this level of documentation to support their activities; and have been 
commended by the emergency services on the production of their event manual which 
is used now as an exemplar for other organisations.

3.1.7 The high standard of documentation is matched by the high standard of the event, 
with minimal reports of issues each year.

3.1.8 A comprehensive review of Summer Fest was undertaken after the 2017 event which 
was reported to the Cabinet Member for Environment and Housing on 23 January 
2018.   The Cabinet Member noted the economic benefits of the event and confirmed 
that the Summer Fest event should be processed in accordance with Council Policy.

3.2 This Year’s Event

3.2.1 The event this year took place over the same three days (August bank holiday 
weekend) with the addition of a cinema screening on the Friday evening.  The cinema 
screening was aimed at families and attracted reasonable audience for this type of 
event which had not really been tried before in Solihull Parks.

3.2.2 The Monday again was dance festival giving the opportunity for regional dance 
schools to showcase the work of their talented children young people; and also give 
the opportunity to see the nationally recognised dance group Diversity in action.

3.2.3 Again this was well received by the participants and bought lots of young people and 
their parents into the area.

3.3 Issues

3.3.1 This year was particularly affected by inclement weather, which reduced the number 
of spectators.

3.3.2 There were few complaints about noise compared to other events of a similar size in 
other Council areas these are given in Appendix B, along with other issues that were 
raised by residents and by Council officers.

3.3.3 These were raised with the organisers at the debrief meeting and were acknowledged.

Page 6



4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 Proposals for 2019

4.1.1 The organisers have proposed a smaller two-day event for 2019. They have 
suggested moving the event to weekend in July (to be confirmed) in 
acknowledgement that the longer event may have disrupted a small number of 
people’s Bank Holiday.

4.1.2 They wish to continue with the event as they have had lots of positive feedback from 
attendees and from local businesses who noted an uplift in trade.  In addition, it raises 
money for a well-liked local charity.

4.1.3 Provided that events policy is again followed all the participants at the SAG meeting 
would be supportive of this move to July.

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 N/A

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan?

☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing

☐ Managed Growth 

☒ Build Stronger Communities 

☐ Deliver Value

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 Arrangements were built into the design of the event to safeguard children and young 
people and vulnerable groups who were participating in or attending the event.

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 This report has not been considered by Scrutiny.

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 The event is managed through the Council’s Events Policy and charged in 
accordingly.     

Page 7



6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 In progressing the application to host this event the Council has had consideration of 
all relevant policies and legislation and applied them accordingly.

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 A comprehensive risk assessment was undertaken by the Event Organisers and 
reviewed by the Safety Advisory Group.  A safe, well managed event was delivered.

6.6.2 There is a risk that Solihull’s reputation as a place where people can enjoy a whole 
range of leisure opportunities would be damaged if a decision was made not to hold 
the event in future.  The economic benefits of the event identified in Appendix J would 
also be lost.

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 The event was designed and priced to be accessible to as wide a range of people as 
possible.   The event organisers factored in the need to have due regard to the need 
of different groups into the design of the event.

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 Appendix A – Events Policy.

7.2 Appendix B - Record of complaints received in relation to Summer Fest event 2018.

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 Cabinet Member for Environment and Housing report on Summer Fest dated 23 
January 2018.

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 None

Page 8



 
 
 
 

Events Policy and Guidance  
 
 

For Parks, Open Spaces and Town 
Centres  

(Shirley and Solihull) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by cabinet Jan 2012 

Appendix A

Page 9



Contents 

1. Introduction……………………………………………………….p4

2. What areas are covered by this policy?...............................p5

3. What events are covered in this policy?.............................p6
- Community Events 
- Commercial Events  

 - Political Events 
- Religious Events 

 - Demonstrations 
 - Assemblies 

- Business Improvement District events 
- Street Parties 
- Council Run Events 

 - Balloon Releases 
 - Filming 
 - Funfairs 
 - Classes 

4. What events are not currently covered by  this policy?.....p9

5. Application process for event organisers…………………..p9

6. Fees and Charges ………………………………......................p12

7. Information and paperwork required by organiser……….p13

8. Supporting resources and information……………………..p14

9. Conclusion……………………………………………………….p20

Appendices 

1. Site locations in the Town Centre…………………………………p21

2. Political application process……………………………………….p28

Appendix A

Page 10



3. Religious application process…………………………………….p29

4. Fees and charges in parks and open space……………………p30

5. Fees and charges in the Town Centre..…………………………p32

6. Park decision matrix……………………………………………….p34

7. Town Centres decision matrix……………………………………p35

8. Flow chart: Event application process…………………………..p36

9. Safe guarding………………………………………………………p37

Appendix A

Page 11



1. Introduction

Solihull Council recognises the importance of events to its cultural and economic 
well being.  Events play a major part in the vibrancy and attractiveness of Solihull 
Town Centre, the 3rd biggest retail area in the West Midlands with an average 15 
million visitors per year.  There is a mixture of Council organised, community 
organised and commercial events in the annual calendar; which consists of anything 
from farmers markets to Race for Life and family fun days. 

The Council’s Parks Events programme is very popular and offers something for all 
ages in most of the parks throughout the Borough.  There are in excess of 30,000 
visitors to park events year on year with over 90% rating the quality, location, price 
and facilities as either very good or good.  In conjunction with community groups, 
over one hundred events and activities take place on an average year which means 
that our parks are being well utilised and promoted to both local residents and 
regional visitors.   

This policy has been devised to facilitate the continued improvement of events in 
Solihull and to ensure that they continue to be safe, welcoming, fun and enjoyable.    

All events which take place in the borough are expected to comply with the terms of 
this policy.  The Council reserves the right to reject any event which it deems is not 
in the interest of the general public.   

Appendix A

Page 12



2. What areas are covered by this Policy?

2.1 This policy covers events on Council property only, which includes: public 
highway, public open space and adopted public land.  Private land will require 
the permission of the landowner and is outside of the scope of this policy.   

2.2 The policy covers Solihull Town Centre, where there are a number of 
possible event areas that the Council is responsible for (see appendix 1 for site 
plans and locations): 
• Mell Square - the target area – main event area with possible branch-out

locations around the square for smaller activities 
• High Street – number of possible locations but size restricted
• Jubilee Gardens – A small amphitheatre to the rear of Touchwood,

suitable for entertainment or music events

The specific area (s) available for the promotion / event will be determined by the 
Town Centre Manager in consultation with other relevant Council departments, 
the Fire Service, Police Service and the event organiser.  

2.3 Shirley Town Centre is also covered by this policy and includes the 
 following areas: 

• Red Lion Square – Stratford Road (The management of this area may
change in the near future) 

• Pedestrianised green area outside Park Entrance – Stratford Road

2.4 The following Parks and Open Spaces have licences to run events: 

• Babbs Mill Park and Local Nature Reserve
• Bentley Heath Park
• Brueton Park and Malvern Park
• Dorridge Park
• Elmdon Park
• Hillfield Park
• Knowle Park
• Lavender Hall Park
• Marston Green Park
• Meriden Park
• Millisons Wood
• Olton Jubilee Park
• Shirley Park
• Tudor Grange Park

2.5 The Park Licenses allow the following regulated entertainment to take 
place in any of the parks up until 11pm: dancing, music, plays, films, live music, 
recorded music, performances of dance and anything similar to the above 
activities.   

Appendix A

Page 13



3. What events are covered in this Policy?

3.1 Events are classified, for the purpose of this policy as a gathering of people, 
large or small, for business or pleasure, which is time bound, with a particular 
objective and associated resources and materials are required.   

3.2 Generally the two main categories events fall under are either community or 
commercial, as defined below: 

• Community Events – those events organised by charities, not for profit
organisations, community or voluntary groups that directly benefit the
residents and stakeholders within the Borough.  These can take place in
either the town centres or parks.

• Commercial Events – those events that do not fall into the above
category and have a commercial gain for the business.  As a guideline for
applications received in the past, this has included product launches, road
shows and promotions.  The majority of these types of events take place
in the Town Centre but there is scope for parks to be used.  An example of
this would be a funfair, circus or car show.

3.3 There are also a number of other events which do not fall under the above 
   categorisation but have become regular activities in either the Town Centre 
   or Parks. 

3.4 Political Events - A set process has been developed for political parties  
wishing to engage with the general public in either Solihull Town Centre or  
Shirley Town Centre.  This is outlined in appendix 2.   

Political parties must be registered political parties and will be requested to 
show proof of this.  Registered political parties are defined as those registered 
with the Electoral Commission and have to comply with regulatory 
requirements.   For 6 weeks prior to an election, there is no charge for 
registered parties wishing to use the town centre.  Although booking is still 
required to avoid clashes.  At all other times of the year, then a reduced rate 
will be charged as indicated on the fees and charges report under the not for 
profit section, see appendix 5.  

Other political groups will be managed on a case by case basis and will need 
the approval of all responsible authorities, made up of the Police, Council 
departments and local stakeholders within the town centre, in order to hold an 
event.  This may necessitate a round table discussion with the responsible 
authorities to ensure they are supportive of the event activities or campaign 
being promoted.  A charge will be applied at all times for this group, as 
indicated on the fees and charges report under the not for profit section, see 
appendix 5.  

Space will be allocated on first come first served basis.  All other policy details 
are applicable to political groups.  

Appendix A

Page 14



3.5 Religious Events - The Council recognises that there are three different 
types of events which celebrate religious activities, which are outlined below: 

• Celebration of religious festivals – dates will be agreed for the year
ahead with Solihull Faiths’ Forum to celebrate major festivals. These will
take priority over occasional events and are inclusive to everyone,
regardless of faith.  There is no charge associated with these events.
However we will still follow the application process and require the
necessary paperwork from the organisers.

• Occasional religious events e.g. family fun day in the park – requests
can be made to hold events however Solihull Faiths’ Forum and
responsible authorities will be notified of the event to ensure there aren’t
any clashes and as a matter of courtesy.  If there are reasonable
objections to the event then the Head of Neighbourhood Services will
make the final decision. Event organisers should not persistently approach
visitors in any way or persuade them to conduct a particular activity or
attend a particular event, unless they wish to do so. These events should
also respect other faiths or communities within Solihull.  Charges do apply
to events of this nature, at a reduced rate, as indicated in the fees and
charges report, under the not for profit section, see appendix 5.

• Religious awareness raising activities (i.e. an information point in the
town centre) requests can be made to hold events or exhibitions but
Solihull Faiths’ Forum and responsible authorities will be notified to ensure
there aren’t any clashes with the current programme of events provided or
other new events.  The emphasis should be on providing a better
understanding of different faiths in a considerate way.  A charge will be
applied, depending on the size and scale of the event.  This will be at the
discretion of the Town Centre Manager in the first instance and the Head
of Neighbourhood services at the final level.

The same application process has been developed, as of that for political 
events (see appendix 3). Members of the Faith Forum would be our preferred 
partner for any religious events taking place in the Borough. 

The frequency of events of this nature will be the same as that for commercial 
events to avoid over use of the space and appeal to the visiting public and 
local residents.  All other details within this policy are applicable to religious 
groups. 

3.6 Demonstrations - Organisers of public processions are required by law to 
notify the police AT LEAST 6 DAYS BEFORE the event, of the date, time, 
proposed route and the name/address of an organiser. Organisers should try 
to give as much notice as possible.  Event organisers will need to adhere to 
legislation for demonstrations and protests covered in the main by the Public 
Order Act 1986. 

3.7 Assemblies - Assemblies are defined as two or more people in a public place 
- typically a static demonstration outside a business HQ, town hall etc. These 
types of demonstrations do not require prior notification to police but police 
have the power to impose conditions if serious disorder is anticipated.  

Appendix A

Page 15



3.8 Solihull Business Improvement District (BID) – The BID will be organising 
a series of events in the town Centre, over the course of the year.  The same 
processes and procedures within this policy will be followed for such events.   
The charge applied will be based on the business being a private limited 
company and not for profit.  Events will be reviewed on a case by case basis.  

3.9  Street Parties – These are defined as events on the highway and are 
included in Section 9.   

3.10 Council run events – There will be a not for profit charge applied for 
any Council related events organised (appendix 4 and 5). 

3.11 Balloon releases – For balloon releases of over 5000 balloons, written 
consent from the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) is required.   For releases of 
less than 5000 balloons, written approval is not required by the CAA.  Due to 
the close proximity to the airport,  organisers should inform Solihull Police 
Station and Birmingham airport as a matter of courtesy. 

3.12 Filming on Council property – High Street, Mell Square, Poplar Way, 
Station Road, Parks and open spaces 
The Council requires at least 5 days notice of filming projects.  A copy of the 
organisation’s public liability insurance, risk assessment and brief on what is 
being filmed and where is also required.  Please note that this is for Council 
owned land only.  Private buildings, such as shopping centres, will require 
alternative permission.  There is no charge for filming on Council owned and 
maintained property.  The communications team should be contacted regarding 
filming in areas other than this.  

3.13 Funfairs – Organisers must be members of the Showman’s Guild of 
Great Britain.  There are only a limited number of park locations suitable for 
such events.  The frequency of a funfair or circus in the same park, must be at 
least 3 months apart and must follow the Showman’s Guild of Great Britain 
guidelines.  Current and up to date safety certificates must be provided for all 
rides along with public liability insurance and risk assessments.  A bond will be 
required for events of this nature and parks fees and charges apply 

 (appendix 4). 

3.14 Use of parks for regular classes – Activities such as exercise classes or 
walking will be assessed on a case by case basis and are bound by the terms 
of this policy.      

Appendix A

Page 16



4. What events are not currently covered by this policy?

4.1 There are a number of events that we do not accept within our Town 
Centres or Parks and Open spaces, these include but are not limited to: 

• Private Events - there is no provision in any of the locations for private
events such as private parties, weddings or corporate events

• Car Boot sales – parks are not to be used for this purpose

• Bonfires – we do not play host to any bonfires within our parks

• Events with animals – The Council does not allow, on any Council-owned or
managed land; rodeos, circuses or travelling menageries which include
performing animals. The Council does not allow the giving of live animals as
prizes at fetes/funfairs either.  Consultation should be made with our
Environmental Protection Officer for animal welfare in the first instance if
there is any doubt regarding an event.

• Barbecues –  these are prohibited in any of our park locations

• Any events which promotes the use of alcohol or smoking of any nature

• Any event which may be construed as showing or encouraging any type
of prejudice (for example racial, sexual, religious) according to the Equality
Act 2010.

4.2  There may also be other types of events that would be deemed unsuitable for 
the performance spaces in parks and Town Centres.  The Council needs  to give 
due regard to the letting of space and the impact and consequences of the 
event on other people who use the town centre and the resources of the Council. 
Therefore if there is any doubt to the suitability of an event, it will be escalated to 
the Head of Neighbourhood Service for consultation and advice, with supporting 
consultation from any individuals who may be exposed to the event. 

5 Application process for events organisers 

5.1 All event organisers are asked to follow the same application process, regardless 
of whether the event is in a town centre or park location. This is outlined below: 

Initial enquiry: 
• Stage one – enquiry received via email, application form on website

(www.solihull.gov.uk) or via telephone  
• Stage two – Enquirer is sent an application form/ terms and conditions

/ fees and charges/ toolkit if required (these are currently being 
updated and reviewed and will be added to the website as soon as 
possible). 

Appendix A

Page 17



• Stage three – Date checked for clashes and availability confirmed.
Event provisionally added to event database/diary.  Event will not be
approved until all relevant paperwork is received and consultation has
taken place.  For medium sized events, approval must first be received
by Head of Parks or Town Centre Manager. For large scale events
approval must be gained from the Head of Neighbourhood Services
(appendix 6 and 7)

• Stage four – Basic event application reviewed and all necessary
information obtained which includes Public Liability, Risk Assessment,
Lost Children’s Policy and application form containing a brief of the
event. A Bond may be required also(section 6)

Consultation element: 
• Stage five – Consultation – for some events we need to consult

external parties to gain approval as well as other responsible
authorities such as the police

• Stage six – Arrange Safety Advisory Group meeting if the event is
medium to large scale or has risk associated with it.  Arrange a site
visit to agree details of the event if necessary

Confirmation stage: 
• Stage seven –Confirmation or rejection email sent to event organiser

detailing key contacts, access details and terms and conditions
 Post event: 

• Stage eight – post event evaluation with organiser and success
recorded on database.  Post event site visit to review any possible
reinstatement work

• Stage nine -  Invoice the event organiser for appropriate fee

Appendix 8 contains a flow chart of this process, which will be amended on a 
regular basis to reflect the type of applications coming in.  

5.2 Size of Event 
The size of event will dictate the approval making process and the application 
time scales. Therefore, the following guidelines have been adopted for this use: 

• Small events – events for up to 500 people
• Medium events – events for up to 2000 people
• Large event – events for over 2000 people

The associated risk factor from the type of event will also be used to indicate the 
approval process. 

5.3 Approval making process / Safety Advisory Group (SAG) 
Part of the approval making process involves consultation with external and 
internal parties, and in some cases for medium/large scale events a meeting with 
the Safety Advisory Group. 

Appendix A

Page 18



The Safety Advisory Group (SAG) consists of a team of specialist representatives from 
the Police, Fire, Ambulance, Highways, Event and Environmental departments whose 
role it is to advise event organisers on the organisation of a safe event.  The SAG group 
will pass on these recommendations on to The Council’s Events Team and Head of 
Service, who will give the final approval for large scale events. 

5.4 Approval criteria 
The following criteria will be used to determine whether approval will be given to 
a specific event when the Council is the organiser and/or the land/site owner: 

• Security and public safety
• Effect on the fabric of the area and the damage limitation
• Effect of event on regular users of public spaces, stakeholders and

local residents
• Timing of the event / frequency of the event
• Size of the location, numbers attending or estimated numbers
• Impact on transport infrastructure to support the event – e.g. parking,

road closures
• Quality of the event to the area
• The creation of opportunities for local participation of people living

within the borough
• The ability of the organisers to effectively plan, manage and control the

event and adhere to best practice standards

5.5 Application time scales  
Where possible we will try to be flexible on the time scales used for applications 
as we appreciate that some events may be as a result of cancelations or 
demand.  However we ask that the following guidelines are adopted.  During 
busy summer months, we cannot guarantee that applications for events outside 
these timescales can be managed: 

• Small events – at least 6 weeks
• Medium events – at least 2 months
• Large events – 6 months at least, more if possible due to the complex

nature of the event

There are also timescales associated with applications for necessary permits or 
licenses associated with the event.  These are the sole responsibility of the event 
organiser to arrange.   The most relevant are: 

• Sale of Alcohol – temporary event notice required depending on the
nature of the activity - 10 clear days working notice required

• Street Trading Consent – 10 working days notice required
• Road Closures - 45 days notice period required

5.6 Frequency of events 
For Town Centre Events, a business/exhibitor can only hold an event for a 
maximum of four times per year.  This is to allow other businesses and groups to 
make use of the space but to also offer variety to the visiting public.  Block 

Appendix A

Page 19



bookings of a week or more are generally not allowed and are subject to 
availability and consultation with relevant stakeholders.  

5.7 Cancellation of event or event application refusal 
The Council reserves the right to cancel an event on their land if the necessary 
paperwork, outlined above, is not received in a timely fashion or for emergency 
reasons.  The Council will repay any deposits paid on cancelling an event for 
emergency reasons but shall be under no liability for expenses incurred or loss 
sustained by the event organiser as a result of the cancellation.  All reasonable 
efforts will be made to reorganise the event with the organiser. 

Any event organisers who have previously failed to comply with this events policy 
will also be denied approval for future events.  Outstanding fees and charges or 
bond will also be regarded as non compliance to this policy. 

5.8 Wet weather policy 
In the event of adverse weather, the Head of Neighbourhood Services will have 
the authority to cancel or close the event if, after consultation with the event 
organiser, it is considered that an unacceptable level of damage or risk would be 
caused to the grounds or to public safety.  No liability can be accepted by the 
Council for any losses sustained as a result of this decision being made.  All 
reasonable efforts will be made to reorganise the event within the events 
calendar. 

6 Fees and charges for events 

6.1 There are a set of fees and charges applied to Town Centre Events and Parks 
and Open Spaces events which are included at Appendix 5 and 4 for 
information. The fees and charges are reviewed annually and will be agreed by 
the Budget Strategy Group and Cabinet Member as part of the 2012/13  Budget 

 Strategy work. 

6.2 The fees and charges are broken down into categories; either by the size of the 
event (large scale or small scale) and by the type of organisations running the 
event i.e. charity or commercial business. 

6.3 Charity events are charged depending on the size of the event.  Charities    
also receive a discounted charge. 

6.4  Charity collections which take place on a Saturday, will be granted a free site for 
tables/gazebos/promotional tools at site 3 (the Post Office) subject to availability.  
Should any sites still be available within a week of the collection, the Charity will 
be asked if they would like to change site locations.  Further information on 
charity collections is contained in Section 8. 

6.5  Site 3 (the post office) will be offered as a free pitch to charities and not for 
profit organisations on the first Friday of the month as long as all necessary 
paperwork is received in line with any event in the town centre i.e. public 
liability insurance and a risk assessment as minimum. 

Appendix A

Page 20



6.6 Council departments will be charged the not for profit rate. 

6.7 Events which do not fall into these fees and charges categories will be 
measured on a case by case basis as we recognise that the nature of events is 
changing on a regular basis. 

6.8 Bond - We like to encourage the community to use our parks and open spaces, 
but have learned from experience that they are sometimes not left as they 
were found.  Therefore, a bond of £500 is required for any medium scale event 
and £1000 for large scale events, to pay for reinstatement for damage made to 
the park or in a town centre.  The bond is returned after the event, post site visit 
and  subject to agreed damage costs estimated by the Council.  The Council will 
then invoice the event organiser for any damages made. 

6.9 Small charities, religious groups and political groups organising small scale, low 
risk events will not be asked to produce the bond but will be held liable for any 
damage caused as a result of their event, by either themselves or their 
contractors and entertainers.  The Council will obtain quotes from our 
contractors for repair and inform the organiser of the amount prior to invoicing.  

6.10 Cancellation of an event by the event organiser 
The organiser should in writing, notify the Council’s Event Team, of any 
cancellation of an event.   There is a £100 late cancellation fee or 
postponement fee charged as a result of last minute changes.  Events 

 cancelled with: 

• Less than 48 hours notice to cancel - full cancellation fee with be charged
• Less than 48 hour notice to amend - full amendment fee will be charged

7. Information and paperwork to be provided by event organiser

7.1 All event organisers, regardless of the size of the event, will be asked to provide 
the following paperwork for their event to be approved: 

• Public liability Insurance Certificate- this covers the event, activity
and the general public.  A minimum of £5million cover is required.
However depending on the nature of the event, this could increase and
advice should be taken from Insurance providers to ensure the nature
of the event is covered

• Completed risk assessment form – It is the event organiser’s duty of
care to carry out a risk assessment and reduce any risks before the
event begins. The aim of the risk assessment is to consider any
foreseeable risks of the event as a whole and then implement controls
to ensure a safe event before it begins. Examples of risk assessments
carried out for other events can be provided if requested. The Health
and Safety Executive’s web site www.hse.gov.uk also contains helpful
advice. Issues that should be considered include crowd movements
and control, appropriate stewarding, safe traffic movements including

Appendix A

Page 21



separating traffic from people as much as possible and the control of 
potential tripping hazards across the site. 

• Event Manager - All events must have a designated Event Manager
who is responsible for co-ordinating Health and Safety at the event.
For large scale events a dedicated safety officer may be appropriate.
This person will be responsible for collating all of the necessary
paperwork and administration for the event.  The Event Manager must
be over the age of 18.

• Criminal Record Bureau (CRB) Checks - Only those roles which are
eligible for a CRB check need to provide evidence or written
confirmation from the event organiser that such checks have been
carried out. However, it is understood that it is unlikely an event
organiser or volunteer will satisfy the eligibility conditions for a CRB
check. Guidance on eligible posts can be obtained from the CRB on:
customerservices@crb.gsi.gov.uk

• Lost Children’s Policy – A policy should be produced to determine
how you will manage lost children at your event

• Safeguarding children – The event organiser must consider how they
will ensure children and vulnerable adults will be managed as part of
the event process.  This can be contained in the risk assessment for
the event.  Guidance has been provided in appendix 9.

• Event Application and relevant plans to include the following:
o A contact list of the Event organiser and key people /

communications plan
o Relevant licences – distribution of printed matter or street

trading licence for the selling of products

7.2 Once the event has been reviewed, it may be necessary to provide        
 additional information as highlighted below: 

• Health and Safety requirements
o Evacuation plan
o Food Hygiene Certificates – if required
o First aid arrangements
o Inspection certificates from approved bodies – for fairgrounds /

amusements it is Amusement Devices Inspection Procedure
Scheme (ADIPS), for inflatable’s an approved Pertexa Inflatable
Play Equipment (PIPA) and for a Marquee from bodies like
Performance Textiles Association MUTA mark.

o Arrangements for waste management and toilet facilities

7.3 General advice and information can be found in the events toolkit which provides 
details of all the different aspects of events which must be considered.  This is 
currently being updated and will be located on the events webpage of the 

 Council website. 

8. Supporting resources and information

8.1 Distribution of free printed matter (leaflets etc) 

Appendix A

Page 22



The Council has adopted powers to control the distribution of free printed matter 
within Solihull Town Centre. Since the 15th January 2007, it has been a criminal 
offence to distribute free printed material, such as flyers, business cards,  
newspapers and leaflets, without prior consent. The powers were adopted as a 
further tool to reduce the amount of litter within the town centre.  

Exemptions  
The distribution of free printed matter by or on behalf of a charity, where 
the printed matter relates to or is intended for the benefit of the charity are 
exempt from the controls. The definition of a charity for the purpose of this 
policy is any charity registered with the Charities Commission (Charities Act 
1993). The distribution of free printed matter for political purposes, or for the 
purposes of a religion or belief, are also exempt from the controls.  Details of 
the costs and application process can be found at: 

 http://www.solihull.gov.uk/environment/distributionoffreeprintedmatter.htm   

8.2 The sale of goods, food and drink - Occasional Street  
 trading consent 

Occasional street trading consent will be required if you are selling products. 
The Licensing team has developed the following criteria for different 
circumstances: 

• A charity event in one of the parks (for example) - we will issue one
consent, in the name of the charity or organisers, at a cost of £25, which
will cover all stallholders.  However, this is on condition that the event is
being conducted for charitable purposes.  Food related stalls will require
separate occasional street trading consent.

• A trading event (in the parks or town centre) where each stall holder is
trading there for commercial gain will require one consent per stall, at a
cost of £25 per consent.

• A stall set up entirely for charitable purposes, such as Guide Dogs setting
up in Solihull Town Centre, to sell their items, will require consent, but
there will be no charge.

Consent can be obtained with at least 10 days notice.  If the event goes on for 
more than one day, a separate licence will be required for each day.  The event 
organiser will need to arrange their own consent and provide evidence of the 
licence prior to the event bring approved. 

8.3 Fly posting- It is illegal to place any posters or banners on street 
furniture around the Borough and the Council will take them down as soon as 
they are aware of them and pass the costs on to the business identified on the 

 poster. 

The Council has made an exception for charitable events and activities, as long 
as the following guidelines are observed: 

Appendix A

Page 23



• Adverts should only be affixed to lamp columns, and not to traffic signs,
traffic signals, trees or pedestrian barriers.

• Adverts should not be placed within 5m of a traffic junction.
• The method of affixing the advert must not damage the lamp column in

any way.
• Adverts should not be affixed earlier than seven days before the event,

and removed within 24 hours after the event.
• All fixings must be removed when the advert is removed.
• Thought should be given to the size, design and number of adverts.
• The adverts should state the name of the charity that is benefiting from the

event.

The Council should be informed four weeks prior to the event, of the quantity, 
size and wording of the posters and street name/location of them prior to the 
event, so that we can inform our Highways Services Team. 

Please note that Solihull Council may remove any adverts that do not adhere to 
these conditions, or pose a danger, are offensive, or too numerous.  

8.4 Lotteries and raffles on Council Land 
Lotteries are governed by the Gambling Act 2005.  Lotteries are defined as the 
arrangement whereby individuals pay for an opportunity to win a prize and the 
prize winner is selected entirely by chance. Full regulations are available at 
www.institute-of-fundraising.org.uk   

Lotteries exempt from the 2005 Act are incidental - a non commercial lottery 
which means tickets are sold at the event and the draw takes place at the  
event.   

Tombola with prizes which consist of alcohol do not require a licence, provided 
the alcohol is in a sealed container and no one under the age of 18 is awarded 

 the prize. 

A registration will be required from the Council licensing team, if a “small society 
lottery” event is taking place i.e. ticket are sold up to the weeks prior to a draw 
being made.  A returns form must be sent back to licensing after the draw.   

8.5 Events requiring a road closure 
Events on the highway, such as fun runs, parades and street parties are 
permitted but will require a road closure notice to be produced.  There is 
currently no charge for charities however, depending on the size and scale of 
the event – a traffic management company may be required to manage the 
process. There is a 45 days notice period required for the press to be notified 
and the council recommends a 90 day notice period in case of the need of any 
alteration to the plan.  

A new policy is currently being produced for such events, which will be made 
available on the website.   

8.6  Alcohol licence 

Appendix A

Page 24



The serving of alcohol is discouraged at events on parks and open spaces as 
we do not wish to encourage the use of alcohol as an integral part of 
recreational activity, or increase the anti-social behaviour associated with 
drinking.  However in special circumstances, a licence may be granted.  

• Parks – The Park Premises Licences for each of the parks do not
currently authorise the sale of alcohol in our parks.  Should you wish to
have a beer tent or sell alcohol this is on the condition that the Head of
Service has given approval and a temporary event notice is obtained.  The
police must be informed of the activity.

• Town centre – In order to sell alcohol for consumption in the Town Centre
the event organiser will need to obtain a temporary event notice from our
licensing team.

8.7 Charity Collections 
Charitable organisations are welcome to use Solihull Town Centre or Shirley 
Town Centre for collections.  These are free of charge and should be pre 
booked with the licensing team in October for the following year. Collections are 
restricted to Saturdays only as we want a good mixture of different activities 
within the town centre and do not want visitors to be bombarded with collections 
on a more frequent basis.  

A collection is identified as a number of people in branded uniform with 
collection tins/buckets, spread around the town, to collect.  Should charities 
require additional resources to this, such as marquees, boats, caravans, 
then they must contact the events team to reserve space and  complete the 
events application paperwork in the normal way.  There is no charge for this 
service and a site has been allocated in the town centre for this purpose. 

8.8 Busking  
Buskers should call the events team to reserve space within the town centre, to 
ensure that there aren’t too many people in at any one time and that they do not 
clash with any other events in the town centre.  They will be issued with the 
code of conduct in order to ensure that all stakeholders within the town centre 
can work together effectively and compliment each others business.  The code 
stipulates that buskers should move around on a frequent basis during their 3 
hour performance.   

8.9 Direct debit collectors 
Charities, who offer a monthly direct debit donation scheme to visitors, are 
limited to Monday’s only within the town centre.  They must apply for a permit 
via licensing and there is no charge.  The collectors are regulated by the Public 
Fundraising Regulatory Association (PFRA), the charity-led membership body 
that self regulates all forms of direct debit ‘face-to-face’ fundraising.  Only 
organisations that are members of and adhere to the conditions of the 
agreement will be permitted on the public highway. For information contact 

 the PFRA http://www.pfra.org.uk . A new agreement is currently being drawn up 
with PFRA for Solihull and Shirley town centres.   

Appendix A

Page 25



8.10 Temporary structures 
Any marquee, tent or temporary structure erected as part of an event should be 
suitable for the purpose intended, in good condition and erected by a competent 
person.  All tents, marquees and any other temporary structure made of 
materials that may be flammable should be treated to ensure they are flame 
resistant.  The contractor should provide certificates to confirm this. 

Equipment can not be tied, fixed or drilled in to any street furniture or paving in 
the town centre.  Arrangement should be made for the structure to be made 
secure on hard standing without any intervention i.e. via sand bags or weights.   

8.11 Inflatable play equipment 
The Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) guidance should be 
followed to ensure the safe use of any inflatable equipment.  Care should be 
taken when locating inflatable play equipment and it should be properly tethered 
to prevent movement during use. Appropriate evidence should be sought for 
tagging and testing of the play equipment in the form of a PIPA certificate. See 
http://www.pipa.org.uk for more information.    

8.12 Electricity and water supplies 
Parks and open spaces do not have any electricity or water supplies.  Therefore 
event organisers will have to bring in their own generators where necessary and 
bring in drinking water as required.  Advice can be provided by Severn Trent on 
how to obtain a stand pipe for a long term water supply, if required.     

Electricity can be provided in the town centre, but on a case by case basis.  
Engineers will have to connect the supply and an up to date PATT test 
certificate is required for the equipment used.  There is a connection fee and 
charge and a quote will be obtained on a case by case basis.   

 8.13 First aid requirements  
The organiser of the event needs to agree what level of first aid is required for 
the event, which is provided at the organiser’s expense.  A SAG meeting will 
also recommend a level of cover required.  The British Red Cross and St. Johns 
Ambulance can provide further information. 

8.14 Toilets  
At any event there needs to be an adequate provision of toilets for the public 
including accessible facilities.  The event duration and likely number of visitors 
are normally used to estimate the amount of toilets required: 

1 WC /100 females 1 WC / 100 males or less 
2 WC's for 101-500 males 
3 WC's for 501-1000+males 

8.15 Food Hygiene  
Where food is provided at an event, we wish to see the caterer’s Public Liability 
Insurance and proof that they have been licensed by their Local Authority.  The 

Appendix A

Page 26



caterers should also have food hygiene certification.  The Council expects the 
following considerations to have been made for any catering: 

All food at an event must be safe, fit for human consumption and prepared, 
handled and stored in accordance with food safety legislation. Specific advice 
can be found on the Food Standards Agency Web site http://www.food.gov.uk/.  
As a general rule stall holders selling food (Food Business Operators) must 
provide facilities for washing and drying hands i.e. hot and cold water, soap and 
paper towels. Staff must also maintain adequate personal hygiene.  They must 
provide adequate storage for waste.  They must have facilities/ make 
arrangements for maintaining and monitoring food temperatures for high risk 
foods.  Food must be protected from the risk of contamination.  Surfaces must be 
in a sound condition, easy to clean and disinfected. 

8.16 Animals 
The Council does not allow animals to be involved in performances in any way 
or as prizes on a fete/stall.  However animals which are ancillary to an event are 
acceptable as long as appropriate welfare conditions are considered.  
Environmental Health must be informed prior to the event should the event 
include animals of any kind.    

8.17 Litter 
The provision for the removal of litter is the responsibility of the event organiser.  
The Council will issue costs to the organiser if it is necessary to litter pick after 
the event.  Event organisers can arrange for skip hire for this purpose, which 
should arrive only 1 day prior to the event and collected within 24 hours of the 

 event finishing. 

8.18 Noise  
Noise will be kept to an acceptable level so as not to cause annoyance to other 
persons in the neighbourhood. The hirer will comply with any instruction given 
to them by a Council officer or the police to reduce volume or to stop the noise 
entirely, as a result of complaints. If the organiser fails to do so, the event will 
be cancelled and organisers asked to leave the Council owned property.  

Permission must be given by the Town Centre Manager for the use of PA 
equipment, loud hailers and other music prior to the event taking place as these 
may need a licence.   

8.19 Ice cream  
There are set traders allocated to specific pitches in various parks around the 
Borough.  These traders should be contacted in the first instance for any event 
as they have the necessary licence for the park.   

8.20 Accessibility and Equalities 
The development and delivery of all events must encourage access by all 
members of the community, in particular disadvantaged and under-represented 
groups.  Facilities must be accessible to disabled people and all events 
undertaken in our town centres, open spaces and parks should adhere to 

Appendix A

Page 27



information contained in the Equalities Act 2010 available at 
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/equalities/equality-act       

9. Conclusion

9.1 This policy has been compiled with the help and support of various internal 
departments including: Licensing, Parks, Environmental Health, Health and 
Safety, the Safeguarding Boards and Highways.  External agencies including 
the Police have also been consulted. 

9.2 This policy will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis to reflect the 
on going changes to the town centre and the nature of events.  

9.3 All event paperwork is being reviewed as part of this policy and a new 
webpage will be created to help and support event organisers in to the future.  

Any queries should be directed to: 

Town Centre Management and Events 
 Solihull Council 
 Council House 
 Solihull 
 B91 9QT 

Appendix A

Page 28



Appendix 1  

Promotional event sites in Solihull Town Centre 
Solihull is just 9 miles from Birmingham and 15 minutes away from the NEC and 
Birmingham Airport.  As a town we attract some of the biggest names in retail 
including one of the first John Lewis’ in the Midlands and we are the 3rd biggest 
shopping destination in the West Midlands.   With footfall standing at around 
180,000 per week, sites within the town centre are amazing value for money.    

There are a number of prime locations for events in Solihull town centre, 
depending on the type and nature of the event.  An outline of the key details 
for each location is explained below.  However it is also worth having a 
conversation with the Events Officer who can advise and make 
recommendations for your event. 

Site 1 

Site 2 

Site 3 

Site 4 

Site 6 
Site 5 

Appendix A

Page 29



Site 1 –Target area, Mell Square 

This site is located in the middle of Mell Square, the main outdoor shopping centre. 
There is a large circular area available and is suitable for marquees, displays and 
shows.   

Size: 10m x 10m (tbc) 

Access:  There is vehicle access (limited times) to Mell Square. 

Orientation:  The target area is next to Costa Coffee, Boots, Marks and Spencer’s, 
BHS, HMV and New Look and is extremely visible from passing pedestrian traffic. 

Resources: Electricity available on request (PAT tests required prior to arrival/ 
charge involved). 

Appendix A

Page 30



Site 2 - Marks and Spencer’s, Mell Square 

This site is located in Mell Square, directly opposite site 1 and has a regular footfall 
throughout the day.  The benefit of this site is that it is accessible to vehicles for 
car/bus or large exhibition displays. 

Size: 10 metre by 6 metres 

Access: Good access for large vehicles/exhibitions – main site for this purpose 

Orientation: Like site 1, the area is located to all major retailers and has a prime 
position within the town centre 

Resources:  Electricity available on request (PAT tests required prior to arrival/ 
charge involved). 

Appendix A

Page 31



Site 3 – Post Office, Mell Square 

This is a small site suitable for displays and small marquees, entertainment or 
collections. 

Size: 7 metres by 10 meters 

Access: Good access for loading and unloading.  Unsuitable for large vehicle 
displays 

Orientation:  Located next to the large post office and access route to House of 
Fraser and near to BHS 

Resources:  Electricity available on request (PAT tests required prior to arrival/ 
charge involved). 

Appendix A

Page 32



Site 4 - Outside H Samuels, High Street  

This High Street location is suitable for various events, displays and vehicles but 
there is a restriction to the amount of time it can be used. 

Size: 5 metres by 6 metres 

Access: Good access for vehicles and loading  

Orientation: This site benefits from its position next to the main entrance to the 
in door shopping centre, Touchwood, and the main access through to Mell 
Square. 

Resources: No power available 

Emergency Route 

Appendix A

Page 33



Site 5 - Mill Lane, High Street   

A small site suitable for displays, entertainment or collections  

Size: 2 metres by 3 metres 

Access: Walk on/off access for loading and unloading.  

Orientation:  Outside Thornton’s and baguette de mange 

Resources:  No power available 

Site 6 – Outside Maplins, High Street  

This High Street location is suitable for small displays only and has a regular day 
time audience near to the main bus stop area. 

Size: 5 metres by 6 metres 

Appendix A

Page 34



Access:  Good access for vehicles and loading – limited times 

Orientation:  Located at the end of the High Street next to main access in to 
Touchwood shopping centre and to bus and rail network.  Busy location situated 
near MacDonalds, electrical store and Gregg’s bakery.  

Resources: No access to electricity  

Appendix A

Page 35



Appendix 2 

Political events in Solihull  

Application process 

Stage 1 – Obtain an event application form off the website, via email or via 
telephone.  This should be completed to provide a summary of the event and 
the equipment that the organiser is bringing in. 

Stage 2 – Provision of Public Liability Insurance along with a risk assessment 
and proof of being a registered political party.   

Stage 3 – A reduced charge is applied to all political events apart from 6 
weeks prior to an election when it is free to registered political parti4s.  A 
permit is not required to hand out leaflets by political groups 

Stage 4 – Consultation will take place with responsible authorities within the 
Council and externally to ensure there are no clashes with other events or 
activities within the town centre.  Political groups which are not nationally 
registered will be asked to attend a briefing with responsible authorities to 
gain support for the event.  Democratic Services within the Council should 
also be informed of the event. 

Stage 5 - Approval and access details provided to the event organiser 

For these events, at least four weeks notice is required prior to the event taking 
place.  There may be other events already booked in the diary, which will take 
priority. 

Appendix A

Page 36



Appendix 3 

Religious events in Solihull  

Application process 

Stage 1 – Obtain an event application form off the website, via email or via 
telephone.  This should be completed to provide a summary of the  
event and the equipment that the organiser is bringing in. 

Stage 2 –Provision of Public Liability Insurance along with a risk assessment.   

Stage 3 – There is reduced rate fee applicable to most religious events apart 
from major celebrations.  A permit is not required to hand out leaflets 
by religious groups. 

Stage 4 – The responsible authorities and Solihull Faiths’ Forum will be  
notified of any events to seek their views and ensure there are no  
clashes with other events or activities within the town centre 

Stage 5 - Approval and access details provided to the event organiser 

For these events we will need at least 4 weeks notice prior to the event taking 
place.  There may be other events already booked in the diary, which will take 
priority. 

Appendix A

Page 37



Appendix 4  

CHARGES FOR EVENTS IN THE PARKS 

Please refer to pages 7-9 of Appendices C1 to C7 of the Budget Framework and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2017/18-2019/20 approved by Full Cabinet on 9 February 2017 for 
current charges: 

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s45318/Appendices%20C1%20to%20
C7%20viewable%20on-line%20only.pdf 

Appendix A

Page 38

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s45318/Appendices%20C1%20to%20C7%20viewable%20on-line%20only.pdf
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s45318/Appendices%20C1%20to%20C7%20viewable%20on-line%20only.pdf


Appendix 5  

SCALE OF CHARGES FOR EVENTS IN THE PARKS 

Please refer to pages 7-9 of Appendices C1 to C7 of the Budget Framework and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2017/18-2019/20 approved by Full Cabinet on 9 February 2017 for 
current charges: 

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s45318/Appendices%20C1%20to%20
C7%20viewable%20on-line%20only.pdf 

Appendix A

Page 39

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s45318/Appendices%20C1%20to%20C7%20viewable%20on-line%20only.pdf
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s45318/Appendices%20C1%20to%20C7%20viewable%20on-line%20only.pdf


Appendix 6  

PARK EVENT DECISION MAKING MATRIX 

New SMBC Events / Community Events  

2000 + 500 - 
2000 

Up to 
500 

By Head of 
Neighbourhood 

Services / 
Environmental 

Services 

By Head of Parks Officer 
Approval 

Safety Advisory Group 
(police, fire, ambulance) 

- Give advice and recommendations 
for the safe running of your event 

Attendees 

Approval 

Appendix A

Page 40



Appendix 7  

Town Centre Decision making matrix 

New SMBC Events / Community Events  

2000 + 500 - 
2000 

Up to 
500 

By Head of 
Neighbourhood 

Service approval  

Town Centre 
Manager Approval 

PLUS 
Events in Mell Square 

require approval from Mell 
Square Management 

Company 

Officer 
Approval 

Safety Advisory Group 
(police, fire, ambulance, faith forum) 
-Give advice and recommendations 
for the safe running of your event 

Attendees 

Approval 

Appendix A

Page 41



APPENDIX 8 

FLOW CHART – EVENT APPLICATION PROCESS 

NO 

1. Enquiry received
Via call, email, web form, 

application 

2. Application form sent to
enquirer  

with fees and charges and toolkit (if 
necessary) 

4. Basic event application
reviewed and all necessary info 

3. Date checked for clashes and
availability confirmed 
Event will not be confirmed and 
approved until all paperwork is 
received 

Application form with Public Liability 
Insurance, Risk assessment, Bond and other 
relevant info 
SAG requirement ascertained  - Decision 
matrix consulted depending on size of event 

6. SAG meeting arranged where
necessary.  Approval process followed 
depending on scale of event 

Decision to 
run Event Unsuccessful application 

letter sent 
- end of process - 

Yes 

Site visit conducted prior to event  

Post event site visit booked 
where necessary 
Bond returned/destroyed  

5. Consultation Exercise with
stakeholders incl police and  

6.SAG meeting arranged where
necessary 

7. Confirmation letter sent out
All terms and conditions and access 

arrangements agreed and signed 
paperwork required 

8. Post event evaluation

9. Invoice the event organiser as
appropriate 

Appendix A

Page 42



APPENDIX 9 

Safeguarding guidance 

Introduction  
This guidance note contains advice and best practice for event organisers, provided by 
the Solihull’s Safeguarding Children Board.  

Event Organisers are asked to apply this advice to their particular event to ensure that 
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults is routinely considered in the arrangements 
for the event.  

1. Definitions and Legal Framework
1.1 No doubt children and young people will visit, or be involved with this event in some 
way. Most of these children will visit with family and friends. While the primary 
responsibility for children’s welfare at this event rests with the supervising adult(s), (e.g. 
parent), we would wish to ensure that all children and vulnerable adults are safe and 
protected from harm whilst at this event, in accordance with the principles of “Every 
Child Matters” (Government Guidance).  

1.2 A person is defined as a child, legally, until they reach their eighteenth birthday. Until 
that time they are the legal responsibility of their parents / carers, even if that person is 
not present.  

1.3 A vulnerable adult is a person who is, or may be, in need of community care 
services because of mental disability or other disability, age or illness and who is, or 
may be, unable to take care of themselves or unable to protect themselves against 
significant harm or exploitation.  

1.4 It is also necessary to ensure that staff is protected from unfair allegations; the 
guidelines in this document will ensure that there is no doubt over staff and volunteer 
obligations and safeguarding standards. You should apply this guidance to all 
permanent and temporary staff, volunteers, freelancers and consultants, and to 
contractors who may be engaged in the event.  

1.5 Staff and volunteers need to be made aware that if they see an incident that may be 
an offence against a child that this must be reported to the Police. This is an obligation.  

2. Responsibilities for this Implementing Guidance
2.1 Organisers should appoint an organiser or supervisor to implement this guidance (or 
do it themselves), and who will be the point of contact at the event.  

2.2 By applying this guidance, the organisers understand that safeguarding children and 
vulnerable adults is a responsibility that is shared by everyone. The event organiser 
needs to ensure that all staff and volunteers are aware of the guidance and their 
personal responsibilities. The key message is: Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable 
Adults is everybody’s responsibility.  

2.3 All staff and volunteers have a responsibility to maintain respectable, appropriate 
standards of behaviour and to report lapses in these standards by other members of the 
staff team, or the general public. Any concerns or reasonable suspicions of abuse by 

Appendix A

Page 43



other members of the staff team, volunteers or the public, should be reported to the 
event organiser or supervisor.  

3. Standards of behaviour for event staff, volunteers and contractors
3.1 The event organisers will wish to protect its staff, volunteers and contractors from 
unfair allegations, and to enable them to ensure that they do not find themselves in 
potentially compromising situations. At the same time, the aim is for staff and volunteers 
to feel empowered to help safeguard children and vulnerable adults. Therefore, staff, 
volunteers and contractors will:  

3.2 Approach any child in apparent distress and offer help, but ensure that they, and the 
child, are as visible as possible in a public space;  

3.3 Seek assistance from other staff or volunteers in any situation involving children and 
/ or vulnerable adults so that staff avoid finding themselves alone with a vulnerable 
person;  

3.4 Be aware of the possibility of danger from others and explore situations that seem 
suspicious; 

3.5 Keep a lookout for children apparently unaccompanied and communicate the details 
of any lost children to the supervisor, or event organiser.  

3.6 Keep any lost children in a public area where they can be clearly seen;  

3.7 Report any suspicion of abuse or inappropriate conduct immediately to the 
supervisor, or to the event organiser, who will in speak to the Supervising Adult (Parent) 
(provided they are not the alleged abuser). Concerns about the conduct of the 
Supervising Adult (Parent) will be reported directly to the Police on the day, and / or the 
Local Authority if it persists.  

3.8 Staff, volunteers and contractors will not:  

• Touch or in any way engage in unnecessary or inappropriate physical
contact with a child or vulnerable adult;

• Physically restrain a child or young person or vulnerable adult;
• Make inappropriate or suggestive comments or gestures, or use foul,

abusive or racist language to any child or vulnerable adult;
• Physically assault or abuse any child or vulnerable adult;
• Do things of a personal nature for children that they can do for

themselves, such as accompanying them to the toilet, helping them with
their clothing etc. or vulnerable adults;

• Travel alone in an enclosed private vehicle with otherwise unaccompanied
children or young people;

• Treat any child or vulnerable adult for first aid without the presence and
consent of a supervising adult (parent)

4. Dealing with lost or missing children
In the instance of a child being reported lost, the following information will need to be 
passed on to the supervisor or event organiser:  

Appendix A

Page 44



• Child’s name

• Child’s age

• Accompanying person’s name and contact details

• Child’s address and / or name of school / group

• Physical description of the child (height, colour of hair, distinctive clothing)

• Where and when the child was last seen.

When an incident is reported, the supervisor will request all staff and volunteers to 
check their respective areas for a child of the given description and to keep a further 
lookout. This will constitute the initial search. They should also keep in telephone 
contact if possible, and set a time limit for the search. The Supervisor will keep the 
child’s guardian (parent) informed of progress. Where necessary, public announcements 
will be made to assist in finding the child, but children’s names will not be used in the 
public announcement. This will help to prevent a further a risk of the child being 
abducted before being reunited with a parent or carer. Basic checks should be made by 
the event organizer before allowing parents/carers to resume care of the child. [e.g 
asking the child’s name and date of birth etc] 

If the child has still not been found within the set timescale (NB you will need to seek 
advice from our local SAG / Police as to a suitable timescale for the event(s)), the 
Supervisor or Event Organiser will, in consultation with the child’s guardian (parent), 
take the decision on the next course of action. This may involve using further searchers 
or contacting the Police.  

If the child remains missing overnight; or has not been found within a reasonable 
timescale, the Police must be formally informed; and a reference number (CAD number) 
obtained to show that the report has been made. 

Appendix A

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Record of complaints received in relation to Summer Fest event 2018 

Date complaint received How complaint received 
Name of 
complainant 

Details of complaint Actions taken 

28.08.18 Email from complainant 
forwarded by the Licensing 
team. 

Ms E Noise from festival meant that unable to 
open windows or go out in garden.  
Complainant advised that she was not 
consulted about whether or not the event 
could go ahead.  Requested that it could be 
held bi-annually. 
 

Asked Licensing to respond 
on the grounds that this is a 
noise issue.  To advise that 
the organisers have various 
measures in place to address 
any noise issues and ensure 
that these are dealt with 
throughout the event. 

28.08.18 Phone call to Events officer. Ms H Rang to mention various points:  1) that 
sound check on Sunday started at 9.40am, 2) 
that event did not finish until 10.30pm on 
Sunday, 3) objected to Busted using the f-
word on three occasions during their set on 
Sunday evening.  Mentioned that due to the 
Summer Fest event taking place each year 
would have no choice but to move house. 

Advised that sound checks 
are not supposed to start 
until 10.00am which will be 
raised with organisers at 
their debrief meeting on 7 
September (With regard to 
event finishing at 10.30pm, 
explained that organisers 
had taken steps to reduce 
risk of event over-running 
and aim to finish by 10pm  
but there is contingency for 
it to finish by 10.30pm at the 
latest.  Apologised for use of 
bad language by Busted. 
Noted that organisers had 
also raises with the 
managers of the group to 
express their displeasure 
 
 

P
age 47



 
 

Date complaint received How complaint received 
Name of 
complainant 

Details of complaint Actions taken 

29.08.18 Conversation with Highways 
officer 

 There were still posters advertising the event 
that needed to be taken down.  Highways 
have received some complaints relating to 
the number of posters that the organisers 
have put up and the locations where they 
have been displayed. 

Advised organisers that 
posters needed to be 
removed that day and that 
there were concerns about 
the number displayed 
Reiterated to organisers that 
they need to submit a list of 
all proposed locations for 
posters and numbers to be 
put up for approval by the 
Highways team one month 
before the event. 

29.08.18 Freedom of information 
request received from 
relevant Council 
department. 

Anonymous Enquirer wanted to know the costs to the 
ratepayer of the Summer Fest event and 
requested a breakdown of these costs. 

Responded to advise that 
there is no cost to the 
ratepayers for this event to 
be held. 
 

30.08.18 Email forwarded by 
Highways officer 

Mr T, who had 
initially raised 
the complaint 
with Councillor 
Alison Rolf 

Complaint about the number and location of 
various Summer Fest posters and the risks 
posed to drivers by their being displayed at 
traffic lights, pedestrian crossings and road 
junctions.  Asked why fly posting offences are 
rarely prosecuted by the Council. 

Response to  Councillor Rolf 
advising that Mr T’s concerns 
would be raised with the 
organisers during the debrief 
meeting on 7 September. 

P
age 48



 
 

Date complaint received How complaint received 
Name of 
complainant 

Details of complaint Actions taken 

04.09.18 Email forwarded by Licensing 
team of complaint raised 
with Contact Centre from 
local resident. 

Ms F Complaint about loud music from the Dance 
Fest event on Monday 27 August.  This went 
on from 10.30am until 8.00pm.  The 
complainant would like increased safety 
checks of noise levels and consultation with 
local residents about how this event can be 
managed in the future.  Asked to see copies 
of the risk assessments for the event. 

Advised the Licensing team 
to reply advising that this 
would be raised with the 
organisers at the debrief 
meeting on 7 September.  
Confirmed that the 
organisers have various 
measures to ensure the 
noise level does not exceed 
110 decibels. 

04.09.18 Email from Parks officer  Advised wheelie bins borrowed from Waste 
and Recycling team have not yet been 
returned and gate keys are still with the 
organisers. 

Dealt with immediately 

04.09.18 Email from Parks officer Solihull Cycling 
Club. 

There have been complaints from Solihull 
Cycling Club of oil spills and tyre tracks on 
the cycle track which Park Officer will 
investigate further.  Other damage  
identified at the site visit on 29.08.18 
confirmed as being caused by another event 
in June so no further action to be taken on 
this other than for it to be repaired.  There is 
still machinery from the event on site which 
may account for why the organisers have not 
yet handed in the gate keys. 

To be added to the agenda 
for the debrief meeting and 
raised with the organisers. 

 

 

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Meeting date: 14th November 2018

Report to: Cabinet Member for Leisure, Tourism & 
Sport

Subject/report 
title:

Dickens Heath Community Facility

Report from: Assistant Director – Stronger Communities

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Chris Barr – Head of Public Realm

Wards affected: 
☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☒ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To seek Cabinet Member approval for the Dickens Heath Community Facility proposal 
based on the key future principals as outlined in this report.

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 Approve the Dickens Heath Community Facility proposal, based on the following 
principals and key conditions.

(a) As legally required the proposed building is subject to the appropriate planning 
approval.

(b) A detailed facility usage, revenue funding and governance plan is finalised and 
reported back to Cabinet member for Leisure, Tourism and Sport early in the 
new year and approved before construction of the facility can commence.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 Since 2004 various funding streams have been made available through the Section 
106 planning funding process for the delivery of improvements to Dickens Heath. 
These are contributions associated with both the initial construction of Dickens Heath 
village and various additional development extensions to the village that have been 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



completed over the years since 2004.

3.2 Included in this funding are a number of developer contributions towards the delivery 
of provisions for young people in Dickens Heath, particularly young people between 
13 and 17 years of age.

3.3 Current youth provision in Dickens Heath consists of a conventional younger 
children’s play area on the village green, which is not suitable or applicable for young 
people in the 13 to 17 age bracket.  The Scouts, Cubs and Beavers are all popular in 
Dickens Heath and currently operate on Tuesdays and Wednesdays from Dickens 
Heath Community Primary School and there is a youth club that up until recently 
operated once per week at Dickens Heath Parish Council offices.

3.4 Since 2004 multiple investigations, feasibility assessments and consultations have 
been undertaken to identify what young people need in terms of a facility and most 
importantly in terms of trying to identify sites suitable for the development of a youth 
provision type facility.

3.5 However, every option and consideration in terms of this facility has experienced the 
same issue regarding the availability and suitability of any land or site to 
accommodate youth provision.  Regardless of the type, shape, style and function of 
facility, unfortunately previous attempts have concluded that Dickens Heath has very 
little available land or space that is suitable and/or appropriate.  Any land remaining 
within the village is ether too small and/or is already designated to provide an 
alternative specific purpose, for example conservation land.

3.6 It is also important to highlight that the original idea of a facility for young people was 
very much around the traditional off the shelf setup, such as a multi-use games area, 
skateboard facility, outdoor meeting area or a combination of the three.  However, as 
time has progressed, industry standards improved and various consultations with 
young people in Dickens Heath have been undertaken, thoughts and ideas have 
evolved to acknowledge that these conventional options, whilst they tick a box in 
terms of provision, may not deliver the level of value needed for young people.  The 
overall message given by young people in Dickens Heath is that of having a safe, 
secure and welcoming place to be, meet and socialise.

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 Whilst the Council had exhausted all feasible options in terms of a suitable site to 
accommodate a facility for youth provision, in 2014 the Head Teacher of Dickens 
Heath Community Primary School approached the Council and proposed the 
possibility of the School accommodating a suitably sized facility to deliver youth 
provision on the School grounds.

4.2 Further exploration of this proposal and investigations were undertaken and the 
Council working with Dickens Heath Community Primary School developed options in 
terms of a facility that could provide both youth and wider community provision within 
the school grounds.  Through this joint working, considerations turned towards a 
building type facility that could connect to the existing community farm and multi-use 

Page 52



games area that already exists in the school grounds. A building would open up 
options for indoor youth provision, therefore offering much more in terms of value to 
young people, particularly during the winter months.

4.3 Since 2004 the Section 106 contributions agreements for this project have increased 
and there is now a budget of £300,000 available for such a facility.  Therefore also 
opening up opportunities to realistically explore the option of a building, rather than the 
original intentions back in 2004 of an outdoor games area or skate park.

4.4 In 2016 the Councils Landscape Architect Team undertook design and site 
assessment work to create indicative plans to inform the Council and the School in 
terms of options for a building within the School grounds. The result was positive with 
regards to a possible opportunity to create a single storey building, which could be 
sensitively positioned on land at the end of the main School car park. Land which 
could also be separately secured and accessed independent of the School main 
building and play areas. Appendix 1 provides a plan of the proposed facility location.

4.5 The indicative site and design assessments further assisted in advising on the type of 
building that could be delivered within a budget of £300,000.  The ideal option being a 
prefabricated modular building that is in keeping with the School design and with a 
layout that is sensitive to nearby property and normal School business.  The idea of a 
prefabricated building was also a positive option in terms of the most efficient 
construction process, again minimising local disruption and being sensitive to School 
business and nearby residents.

4.6 Furthermore both the School and the Council were of the opinion that a building type 
facility could be multifunctional in its use in terms of not just providing youth provision, 
but also in terms of providing a facility and opportunities for the community as a whole. 
Therefore delivering stronger value for money by delivering youth provision and added 
value through other community use opportunities when not being used by young 
people.

4.7 Both the School and Council favoured this option, however, due to the nature of the 
work it was considered important to consult with the community on this proposal. 
Therefore the following community consultation was undertaken:

 Face to face briefings and display stands with parents at the Dickens Heath 
Community Primary School Open Day on the 20/07/16;

 Face to face briefings and display stands with the community at Dickens Heath 
Library on the 28/07/16;

 Web based consultation on www.solihull.gov.uk from 12/08/16 - 09/10/16, to 
cater for any members of the community that were unable to attend either the 
School open day as parents or the Library.

4.8 112 people participated in the consultation, 90 (80.4%) people supporting the 
proposal, 20 (17.9%) against the proposal and 2 (1.7%) not sure. Appendix 2 
provides a detailed overview of the results from the community consultation. 

4.9 As part of this consultation process communications were undertaken with key 
stakeholders such as Ward Members, School Governing Body and Dickens Heath 

Page 53



Parish Council.

4.10 Dickens Heath Parish Council whilst welcoming the proposed facility raised a question 
as to whether Dickens Heath Community Primary School was the right location to 
accommodate this facility and/or provide youth provision in Dickens Heath Village. 
Dickens Heath Parish Council proposed an alternative facility to accommodate and 
deliver youth provision for Dickens Heath Village, that being the Dickens Heath Sports 
Club located on Rumbush Lane.  

4.11 In response to Dickens Heath Parish Council’s question and being respectful of 
Dickens Heath Parish Council as a key stakeholder the proposal was suspended and 
the Council agreed to undertake an independent investigation into the newly proposed 
site. Whilst this did delay any further implementation of the facility proposal, it was 
deemed important to respond to this new request in the right way, ensuring that all 
options were explored and that any future proposal decision could be robustly 
evidenced.

4.12 In 2017 an independent assessment was undertaken by an industry leading 
consultant for youth and play, with the remit to review the potential suitability of 
delivering youth provision at Dickens Heath Sports Club and also a further 
independent assessment into the suitability of delivering youth provision at Dickens 
Heath Community Primary School.  The intention was to further inform any decision 
and provide a comparison between the two sites.

4.13 The outcome of the independent assessment was that Dickens Heath Sports Club 
was unsuitable as a youth provision site for Dickens Heath Village.  The main 
reasoning behind these findings related to accessibility and safety. Dickens Heath 
Sports Club is located on the outskirts of the village and there is no safe pedestrian 
access to the site.  Therefore this would significantly restrict young people from 
attending the facility.  Even if a pedestrian footpath was created to access the site, 
young people would still be required to walk along semi-rural highway, without any 
natural surveillance, venturing outside of the village to attend the site.  This would still 
present safety concerns particularly in the winter months and darker evenings. 

4.14 However, the independent assessment reported favourably in terms of the provision 
being provided at Dickens Heath Community Primary School. The report 
complimented the safety and access due to the School being easily accessible in the 
centre of the village.  The report also highlighted the positive feeling of security that 
using the school could provide to young people, most of which it is assumed will have 
attended the School in primary stages and therefore will already have a familiar 
connection to the School and surrounding environment.

4.15 Following the independent assessment, the proposal for a community facility at 
Dickens Heath Community Primary School recommenced with a number of more 
detailed site and environmental surveys were undertaken which further confirmed the 
proposed location at the end of the School car park as the most suitable for such a 
facility.

4.16 In early 2018 a project team was formed to help bring the project to the point of design 
and construction.  The project team included Council Officers, Senior School Staff, 

Page 54



members of the School Governing Body and representatives from the Scouts.

4.17 Work was undertaken to try and identify market providers of prefabricated modular 
buildings that would fit the brief of the proposed facility.  In September 2018 Wernick, 
a specialist modular building provider were commissioned to undertake the detailed 
design, with the intention that Wernick will provide support in the planning approval 
process, project management and construction of the facility pending the various 
approvals from Cabinet Member and Planning.

4.18 Wernick have been approved through the relevant Council procurement approval 
process to provide this service.  It is important to stress that other methods of 
construction and other providers were considered, including a more conventional 
‘bricks and mortar’ style building, however, the cost, significant construction time and 
disruption associated with this type of construction would be unacceptable in 
comparison to the benefits and efficiencies of modular building construction.

4.19 The design work currently being delivered by Wernick is still in the process of 
refinement at the time of writing this report. However, Appendix 3 provides the most 
recent indicative design and image.

4.20 Future sustainable delivery of this facility is imperative. Both the Council and the 
School are very mindful of the necessity to ensure the facility can and will be 
sustainable and operational in the future.  Also that the facility will be managed jointly 
as a community asset and is protected in terms of any future organisational changes 
to both the School and Council.

4.21 Therefore, in terms of youth provision, the Council and the School have undertaken 
various investigations into the wider youth provision offer in Dickens Heath and how 
this provision can be coordinated and managed through the proposed facility.  It is 
proposed that youth provision will be a mixture of third party provision through the 
Scouts and Dickens Heath Youth Club and through direct after school provision, open 
to young people between 13 and 17 on select evenings, to be supervised by School 
staff.  There is already a healthy level of outside School participation in terms of using 
the multi use games area and community farm.

4.22 Both the Council and the School are very much aware of the future revenue costs that 
will be associated with running this facility. Dickens Heath Community Primary School 
have given a commitment to manage these revenue costs, in return for using the 
facility as and when there is no youth or community use during School hours.  This will 
include revenue costs such as utilities and running costs and any costs associated 
with staff supervision of youth provision after School hours.

4.23 Whilst there is a clear commitment from all parties to ensure this facility is sustainable 
for future, all parties are keen to ensure that robust written agreements and 
governance processes are in place. Officers also believe this should be a key principal 
in terms of this report and Cabinet Member decision to support this facility proposal. 
Therefore Officers propose that a further detailed report be presented back to Cabinet 
in the new calendar year outlining a future facility usage plan, revenue plan and 
governance agreement for Cabinet member approval.

Page 55



5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 It has been important to outline the detailed history and context behind this project and 
outline the many considerations that have been explored prior to this proposal. In 
summary the key factors supporting this proposal are as follows:

(a) Previous studies have proven that there is no suitable land to accommodate 
youth provision in Dickens Heath other than Dickens Heath Community Primary 
School;

(b) Due to further financial contributions since 2004 the higher level of capital 
funding now available provides more enhanced opportunity to provide a 
building type facility for year round youth provision and under the capacity of a 
community facility, with the opportunity to provide added value and additional 
wider community use;

(c) Community consultation supports the proposal for youth provision through a 
community building on the School site;

(d) Key stakeholder communication has demonstrated full support from the School 
and other stakeholders such as the Scouts;

(e) A further independent feasibility study has been undertaken to further inform 
and firm up the decision making around this proposal, supporting and 
evidencing the decision around the School site;

(f) Detailed assessments have been undertaken in terms of informing the right 
process for commissioning the design and construction of the building, with a 
variety of options considered through the appropriate corporate procurement 
process.

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Whilst this report is asking for Cabinet Member decision to support the proposed 
Dickens Heath Community Facility, Officers are mindful of the need for further work 
both in terms of the facility design, planning approval and future sustainability 
agreement. Therefore Officers recommend this decision is based on the following 
conditions:

(a) As legally required the proposed building is subject to the appropriate planning 
approval;

(b) A detailed facility usage, revenue funding and governance plan is finalised and 
reported back to Cabinet member for Leisure, Tourism and Sport early in the 
new year and approved before construction of the facility can commence.

6.2 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan? 

Page 56



☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing – By providing better community links and 
coordinated access to youth provision and current school facilities such as the 
community farm and/or trim trail for young people.

☒ Managed Growth – By utilising Section 106 contributions in a way that it 
delivers both the core reasoning for the funding and also wider added value for 
the wider community.

☒ Build Stronger Communities – By enabling community organisations to deliver 
key provision through the right type of facility such as the growing local Scout 
groups and the popular community youth group.

☒ Deliver Value – By undertaking studies, assessments and investigations that 
evidence the best type of facility in terms of positioning, construction, design 
and in terms of how it can offer multiple community use.

6.3 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.3.1 Dickens Heath Village to date does not have any specific space and facility to offer 
youth provision in terms of 13 to 17 years of age. Consultation with young people tells 
us that there is a need for a safe and secure place for young people to meet and 
socialise and the delivery of this facility will enable this both through provision 
supported by Dickens Heath Community Primary School and through third party 
groups such as Scouts.

6.4 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.4.1 Consultation has been undertaken both in terms of various previous consultations with 
young people and through the specific wider community consultation as outlined in the 
main body of this report. However further consultation will continue with young people 
in terms of defining future youth provision delivery.

6.4.2 Whilst previous consultation with key stakeholders such as Ward Members and 
Dickens Heath Parish Council has been undertaken, further consultation will be 
carried out as and when this proposal moves through the design, planning and 
construction phase.

6.5 Financial implications:

6.5.1 Over the years the Section 106 contributions agreements for this project have 
increased and there is now a budget of £300,000 available for such a facility.

6.6 Legal implications:

6.6.1 Whilst there are no specific legal implications, Council Legal Services will be engaged 
to review and advise on the proposed future governance plan.

Page 57



6.7 Risk implications:

6.7.1 This proposal and future actions will comply with corporate Council requirements 
around managing risk.

6.8 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.8.1 This proposal and future actions will comply with corporate Council requirements 
around statutory equality duty.

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 Appendix 1 - provides a plan of the proposed facility location.

7.2 Appendix 2 - provides a detailed overview of the results from the community 
consultation.

7.3 Appendix 3 - provides the most recent indicative design and image.

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 N/A

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 N/A

Page 58



P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Dickens Heath Community Facility Consultation July-October 2016 

1. Consultation completed 

1.1 Dickens Heath Community Primary School Open Day 20/07/16 

Council officers had a display of information in the school hall and were available to speak to 
people throughout the day at the School Open Day on 20th July. 

Total number of responses 51  
Number of people supporting 
proposal 

49 96% of respondents 

Number of people against proposal 0 0% of respondents 
Number of people not sure 2 4% of respondents 
 
1.2 Dickens Heath Library on 28/07/16 

Council officers had a display of information at the Library on Thursday 28th July and were 
available to talk to people throughout the day during Library opening hours. 

Total number of responses 8  
Number of people supporting 
proposal 

8 100% of respondents 

Number of people against proposal 0 0% of respondents 
 

  
Consultation at Dickens Heath Primary School Consultation at Dickens Heath Library 

 
1.3 Web consultation on www.solihull.gov.uk from 12/08/16 - 09/10/16 

Information about the project was available to view on the Council’s website for 8 weeks.  A 
simple webform could be used to respond to the information.  

Total number of website hits 793  
Total number of responses 53  
Number of people supporting 
proposal 

33 62% of respondents 

Number of people against proposal 20 38% of respondents 
 
2. Consultation results 

The overall result of the consultation completed at Dickens Heath Primary School, Dickens 
Heath Library and on the Council’s website is summarised in the table below: 

Total number of responses 112  
Number of people supporting 
proposal 

90 80.4% of respondents 

Number of people against proposal 20 17.9% of respondents 
Number of people not sure 2 1.7% 
 Page 61



3. Analysis of the reasons people are AGAINST the proposal (please note consultees 
may have added multiple reasons or no reasons at all, therefore these figures will not 
calculate back to the overall response numbers shown previously) 

Reason for not supporting the 
proposal 

Number 
of 
people 

Notes 

Loss of school playground 8 The proposal will not impact on this 
Loss of car parking and increased traffic 6 The proposal will not impact on this 
Proposed location for building 5 All of these 5 people would prefer the 

building to be located on the school 
field 

Believe that Dickens Heath already has 
adequate community facilities and 
buildings 

4 Buildings referenced - Village Hall, 
Parish Council Rooms, School Hall, 
Library 

Operating hours / noise in evenings 3  
ASB concerns e.g. noise, gangs of 
young people 

2  

Facility Council controlled 1  
Low income 2 These responses are more likely meant 

for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
Consultation 

 
4. Analysis of the reasons people are FOR the proposal (please note consultees may 
have added multiple reasons or no reasons at all, therefore these figures will not calculate 
back to the overall response numbers above shown previously) 

Reason for supporting the proposal Number of 
people 

Notes 

A facility is needed for young people 62  
The facility is important for Scouts / other 
organised groups. 

19  

The facility will benefit the School 11  
The facility is needed for the community 7 Additional building needed 
 
Some very positive comments were made during the consultation including: 

“The area is crying out for youth facilities as the community has voiced its concerns with 
young people on the streets in the area.” 

“After an extremely long wait extra youth facilities are very welcome.” 

“The very successful scout group needs suitable premises in which to meet and store 
equipment.” 

 “Dickens Heath lacks up to date facilities for youths to stay in the village.” 

“An excellent addition to both school and community of the village.” 

“Locating this on the school site will provide additional space for school and extra-curricular 
activities.” 

“I have a child who currently attends the Beavers and who has greatly benefitted from being 
part of it - any additional facility will add to the scale and options available and benefit not 
only her but her siblings and the wider community in having a dedicated space for young 
children, youths and the community to use.” 
 
“The village is crying out for space for children to have a place to visit in the evening and 
also a dedicated preschool place.” Page 62



INDICATIVE DESIGN ONLY 

 

 

 

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Meeting date: 14 November 2018

Report to: Cabinet Member for Leisure, Tourism and 
Sport

Subject/report 
title:

REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING 2018/19 AS AT 30th 
September 2018

Report from: Director of Managed Growth and Communities and Director of 
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Lucy Lee– Finance Manager
llee@solihull.gov.uk 

Wards affected: 
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

N/A

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To inform the Cabinet Member of the Portfolio’s latest forecast financial position as at 
30th September 2018 against Revenue and Capital budgets as summarised below and 
detailed in the attached Appendix A.

1.2 To inform the Cabinet Member of the Portfolio’s progress against the latest 3 year 
savings targets in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) summarised below 
and detailed in Appendix A.

1.3 To inform the Cabinet Member of the Portfolio’s future pressures and mitigations 
detailed in Appendix B.

2. Decision(s) recommended

The Cabinet Member is asked to:

2.1 Consider and endorse the 2018/19 revenue and capital financial monitoring forecast 
as at 30th September 2018;

2.2 Consider the Portfolio’s progress against the latest 3 year savings targets in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as at 30th September 2018;

Page 65

Agenda Item 6

mailto:llee@solihull.gov.uk


3. What is the issue?

3.1 Throughout the financial year, information will be provided on a quarterly basis to the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder and Full Cabinet. 

3.2 The cash limited discipline at Solihull means that Directorates need to balance their 
budget forecast position first and the Portfolio’s position flows from that. As a result, 
this Cabinet is specifically taken into account across the Managed Growth and 
Communities Directorate.

3.3 The revenue and capital financial position, the savings position for 2018/19 to 
2020/21, the key risks and opportunities and required approvals are outlined in 
Appendix A.

3.4 The overall Council position is reported to Full Cabinet together with any planned 
actions; any variances are then considered inline with Council priorities and Financial 
Regulations.

Revenue Budget 2018/19

3.5 The latest approved revenue budget for the portfolio is £3.394m. The Forecast outturn 
expenditure for this year is giving an adverse variance of £135,000 – explanations can 
be found in Appendix A

Capital Budget 2018/19
3.6 The latest approved capital programme for this portfolio is £606,000. The forecast 

outturn expenditure for the year is currently to budget.

Budget Strategy Savings 2018/19 to 2020/21

3.7 For 2018/19 the total savings target is £479,000, all of which is rated as green
3.8 For 2019/20 the total savings target is £190,000, all of which is rated as green
3.9 For 2020/21 there are no savings within this portfolio

Future Pressures and Mitigations
3.10 The latest three year budget position was approved as part of the overall MTFS by 

Full Council on the 1st March 2018.  In addition, on the 21st June 2018 as part of 
the 2017/18 Final Accounts report, Full Cabinet approved a number of one-off 
funding allocations to a number of portfolio budgets over the MTFS period with the 
agreement that the on-going funding implications beyond this period would be 
established through the normal MTFS process for 2021/22 and beyond. 

3.11 In order to keep a ‘live’ picture of the Cabinet portfolio’s financial position each 
Cabinet portfolio holder will, as part of their individual financial monitoring reports 
receive a schedule of any emerging portfolio pressures and proposed mitigations 
against the latest MTFS period 2018/19 to 2020/21.  These schedules were first 

Page 66



presented as part of the 2018/19 budget process to the Budget Strategy Group and 
went on to form part of the budget papers for Full Cabinet.

3.12 These schedules will then inform the starting point of the budget discussions for the 
new MTFS 2019/20 to 2021/22 for the Budget Strategy Group.  This portfolio’s 
pressures and mitigations schedule and the associated narrative detail is contained 
within Appendix B

3.13 Pressures are included in relation to essential repair and maintenance costs in 
relation to the new contracting arrangements at the Council’s Leisure centres. The 
costs were identified at the time of contract award and will be met from the annual 
concession fee and one-off use of reserves. Investment is also included to support 
delivery of activity.  

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 N/A

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 N/A

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan?

☐ Improve Health and Wellbeing - 

☐ Managed Growth - 

☐ Build Stronger Communities - 

☒ Deliver Value –

 Make use of our resources by aligning them to our Purpose, Ambition 
and Priorities, and

 Deliver maximum value to the customer through the Solihull Way

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 None

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 None

Page 67



6.4 Financial implications:

Financial monitoring is undertaken throughout the year by individual budget 
managers. Key income and expenditure risk areas are also monitored monthly by the 
Finance Team. Any significant risks identified are reported to both DLT (Directorate 
Leadership Team) and CLT (Corporate Leadership Team) to ensure that net 
expenditure is managed within approved budgets

6.5 Legal implications:

None

6.6 Risk implications:

The budget monitoring report takes account of forecast variances. In addition there 
may be pressures which are currently being monitored and managed by budget 
managers which could affect the final outturn position for 2018/19.

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

None

7. List of appendices referred to

Appendix A – Quarter 2 Financial Position 

Appendix B – Future Pressures and Mitigations

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 None

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 None

Page 68



Leisure, Tourism and Sport Quarter 2 2018/19 Financial Position Appendix A

Managed Growth and Communities Directorate Position

The context of this Cabinet portfolio position is taken into account with the whole of the Managed Growth and Communities Directorate which is currently forecasting a nil variance to budget.

1. 2018/19 Revenue Position Current Forecast: £135,000 ADVERSE Variance

2. Explanations for significant Revenue Variances

Service Area
Budget

£000s
Forecast

£000s
Variance

£000s Comments
Directorate Management and
Support - Tourism, Leisure and
Sport

159 180 21 Minor adverse salary variance across the portfolio.

Parks and Open Spaces 285 285 0 Nil Variance
Libraries 2,564 2,565 1 Minor variance
Arts (3) 110 113 Income pressure for the Theatre £49,000, income pressure of the café £74,000 offset by £10,000 underspend on salaries.

Leisure 389 389 0 Nil Variance
Total 3,394 3,529 135

3. 2018/19 Capital Position

Schemes Budget Forecast Variance Comments
£000s £000s £000s

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

285.37

2564.28

-3.41

389285.37

2565.272

109.803

389

0 0.992
113.213

0

Quarter 2 2018/19 Revenue Forecast by Service Area  £000s

Parks and Open Spaces Libraries Arts Leisure
-500

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

£0
00

Budget
£000s

Forecast
£000s

Variance
£000s

P
age 69



DICKENS HEATH COMMUNITY
FACILITY

301 301 0 Development of the youth facility at Dickens Heath

TUDOR GRANGE PARK LAYOUT 21 21 0 Tudor Grange park improvements

BENTLEY HEATH REC GD IMPS 41 41 0 Bentley Heath recreation ground improvements

LIBRARIES & ART
PAYMENT KIOSKS 7 7 0
CEN LIB ARTS COMPLEX &
CONNECT

63 63 0 Final schemes for refurbishment of 'The Core'

LIBRARIES DIGITAL INCLUSION 54 54 0 IT equipment updates

LIBRARIES - MINOR WORKS 8 8 0 Minor works following replacement of Kiosks
RFID REPLACEMENT 100 100 0 Replacement of kiosks at Libraries
SHIRLEY LIBRARY (CAPITAL) 11 11 0 Signage and Drainage at Shirley Library
Total 606 606 0

4. 3 Year Savings Targets £000s

Description of Target
2018/19

£000s
2019/20

£000s
2020/21

£000s Comments
Leisure Contract 250 New Contract in Place
Renegotiation of Leisure PPP
contract

129 90 New Contract in Place

Closer integration of Libraries and
Customer Service as part of a
locality "Community Offer"

100 Realignment of Head of Service responsibilities across
Libraries and Customer Services.

Library Service Review 100 Delivered by a review of resource requirements within
the Library Service.

Total 479 190 0

5.Reserves

Cabinet

Balance as at Planned / Forecast  (contribution)/use Forecast Balance
at

Forecast / Planned Proposed as part
of

Forecast
Remaining

31st March 2018
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

the end of
2020/21

(contribution) /use
beyond 2020/21

2020/21 MTFS Balance

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
CONTRIBUTIONS - PARKS (808) 0 0 150 (658) 658 0 0
RFID REPLACEMENT (370) (20) 90 202 (98) 98 0 0
THEATRE BAR (20) (10) 0 0 (30) 30 0 0
THEATRE BAR SEAT DONATIONS (2) 0 0 0 (2) 2 0 0
LEISURE (1,156) 52 915 189 0 0 0 0
SPORTS DEVELOPMENT (23) 0 0 0 (23) 23 0 0

P
age 70



TOTAL RESERVES (2,379) 22 1,005 542 (811) 811 0 0

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B
Underlying pressures and mitigating action - Leisure, Tourism and Sport

Description

Approved MTFS Position Current Forecast Movement (Emerging
Pressures/Mitigations)

2018/19
One-off
£'000

2019/20
One-off
£'000

2020/21
One-off
£'000

2018/19
One-off
£'000

2019/20
One-off
£'000

2020/21
One-off
£'000

2018/19
One-off
£'000

2019/20
One-off
£'000

2020/21
One-off
£'000

Pressures
Libraries and Arts - Income pressures in productions, Café and Bar -
reduction in the number of bookings made to the service

8 0 0 124 113 113 116 113 113

Adverse variance of salaries due to unfunded increments across the
service.

0 0 0 11 0 0 11 0 0

Leisure - Leisure centre repairs and maintenance and investment in
Leisure activity

670 1,387 660 670 1,387 660

Cross Managed Growth & Communities Pressures 0 0 0 71 71 0 71 71
Total pressures 8 0 0 805 1,571 844 797 1,571 844

Mitigations
Cross Managed Growth & Communities Mitigations 0 0 0 0 0 (58) 0 0 (58)
Revenue surplus - Leisure 0 0 0 (618) (472) (471) # (618) (472) (471)
Contribution to/ (use of) Leisure reserves 0 0 0 (52) (915) (189) 0 (52) (915) (189)
Total mitigations 0 0 0 (670) (1,387) (718) (670) (1,387) (718)

Net Portfolio shortfall 8 0 0 135 184 126 127 184 126

To be met from future action of the Managed Growth and
Communities Directorate

(8) 0 0 0 (211) (141) 8 (211) (141)

Net shortfall 0 0 0 135 (27) (15) 135 (27) (15)

Note
There has been some budget realignment following the Leisure contract termination which has resulted in the above items being highlighted.  Once they have been dealt with permanently they will be taken off the
schedule of pressures.

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Summer Fest 2018
	Summer Fest 2018
	Summer Fest 2018

	5 Dickens Heath Community Facility
	Dickens Heath Community Facility
	Dickens Heath Community Facility
	Dickens Heath Community Facility

	6 REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING 2018/19 AS AT 30th September 2018
	REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING 2018/19 AS AT 30th September 2018
	REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING 2018/19 AS AT 30th September 2018




